The Birth of a New Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic

ICJ mission report



International Commission of Jurists Composed of 60 eminent judges and lawyers from all regions of the world, the International Commission of Jurists promotes and protects human rights through the Rule of Law, by using its unique legal expertise to develop and strengthen national and international justice systems.

Established in 1952 and active on the five continents, the ICJ aims to ensure the progressive development and effective implementation of international human rights and international humanitarian law; secure the realization of civil, cultural, economic, political and social rights; safeguard the separation of powers; and guarantee the independence of the judiciary and legal profession.

® The Birth of a New Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic—ICJ mission report

© Copyright International Commission of Jurists, 2016

Graphic Design: Eugeny Ten

The ICJ permits free reproduction of extracts from any of its publications provided that due acknowledgment is given and a copy of the publication carrying the extract is sent to its headquarters at the following address:

International Commission of Jurists P.O. Box 91, 33, Rue des Bains, Geneva, Switzerland

The Birth of a New Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic

ICJ mission report

CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION
The ICJ mission in 2015
The ICJ's previous engagement
The Report
II. BACKGROUND: THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE BAR
ASSOCIATION OF THE KYRGYZ REPUBLIC
Historical background
Overcoming mistrust and inertia
Synchronization of laws to bring them in line with other legislation 8
III. ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNANCE OF ADVOKATURA 10
International standards on the role and independence of bar associations 10 $$
Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic
Territorial Advokaturas
Structure and Bodies of Advokatura
a) Conference of Lawyers
b) Council of Lawyers
c) The Qualification Commission
d) Commission on Ethics of the Advokatura
e) Audit Commission
f) Lawyers Training Centre14
g) The Committee on the Rights of Lawyers
Bodies of Territorial Advokaturas
a) General Meeting of Lawyers of the territory
b) Board of Territorial Advokatura
Independence of the Advokatura
Financial Sustainability of the Advokatura
IV. ACCESS TO THE PROFESSION
International standards on access to the profession
Kyrgyzstan legal framework and practical issues
Requirements to be licensed as a lawyer
Qualification examination process
Licencing of lawyers
V. ETHICS AND ACCOUNTABILITY OF LAWYERS 20
International standards on professional ethics and accountability of lawyers 20
Responsibilities of lawyers
Need to increase the ethical awareness and standards of lawyers 21
VI. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 23
The role and functioning of the Advokatura
Access to the profession
Ethics of lawyers and disciplinary system

4 THE BIRTH OF A NEW ADVOKATURA IN THE KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

I. Introduction

After many years of discussion on draft legislation to reform and regulate the legal profession, a new bar association, "Advokatura", was established in the Kyrgyz Republic in 2015. The establishment of the new bar association ends a long period during which the legal profession was subject to minimal regulation and was without self-governing institutions. This was in a context where lawyers face many challenges in carrying out their professional duties to defend the rights of their clients, including obstruction of their work.

Lawyers play an essential role in any legal system in upholding the rule of law and protecting human rights; therefore the creation of the new Advokatura is as important for the whole legal system as it is for the legal profession itself. International standards on the role of lawyers recognise that "adequate protection of the human rights and fundamental freedoms to which all persons are entitled, be they economic, social and cultural, or civil and political, requires that all persons have effective access to legal services provided by an independent legal profession."¹ They also recognise the importance of a strong and independent bar association, which can defend the rights of and uphold high ethical standards within the profession.

This report analyses the main challenges facing the legal profession and the institutions of the new Advokatura at this crucial juncture. It does not provide a comprehensive analysis of all aspects of the legal framework and outstanding problems of legal practice in the Kyrgyz Republic, which would require a larger scale examination and analysis than is possible within the scope of this report. Rather, the purpose of the report is to set out the ICJ's recommendations on the issues that should be addressed as a matter of priority in order to lay the foundations for a strong Kyrgyz legal profession based on international law and standards on the independence of lawyers including the UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers.²

The ICJ mission in 2015

This report is the outcome of an ICJ mission to the Kyrgyz Republic, which took place from 21 to 25 September 2015, to assess, examine and analyze the reform in terms of the functioning of the legal profession. An ICJ team met with various representatives of the Advokatura, including members of the Council of the Advokatura and the Advokatura's constituent bodies, such as the Ethics Commission, the Committee to Protect the Rights of Advocates and the Legislation Committee of Advokatura. The ICJ, in cooperation with the Training Centre of Advokatura, held a round table discussion with independent lawyers who provided an important insight into the issues examined. The ICJ also held meetings with members of the Prosecutor's Office and the Judiciary, and benefited from the presentation of a representative of the Ministry of Justice at the round table.

The range of issues discussed during those various meetings included the process of establishment of the Advokatura; selection of the members of the Advokatura, to its newly created bodies; and the operation and procedures of these bodies, to ensure the protection of professional ethics and protection of human rights of lawyers. The mission focussed on issues of organization of the profession, lawyers' rights, privileges, security and other issues, which deserve further investigation.

The mission included Jeroen Brouwer, former president of the Dutch Bar Association, Róisín Pillay, Director of the ICJ Europe programme and Temur Shakirov, Legal Adviser of the ICJ Europe Programme. Almaza Osmanova, Chair of the Central Asia League of Lawyers, supported, advised and assisted the ICJ mission. Irina Kuznetsova undertook legal research on the legislative framework and legislative developments in the Kyrgyz Republic, which informed the mission. The ICJ is grateful to the leadership

¹ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, UN Doc. A/CONF.144/28/Rev. 1, adopted by the Eighth United Nations Congress on the Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders, Havana, Cuba, 27 August—7 September, 1990, Preamble; Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Committee of Ministers to Member states on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer, Preamble.

of the Advokatura, other partners and State and non-State stakeholders who facilitated and informed the mission. Meetings with international organizations including the American Bar Association (ABA), Open Society Foundations (OSF), Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), European Union (EU) and United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) provided an important perspective in regard to the reform. All these views were taken into account in the preparation of the present report. The project was supported by a grant from the Open Society Foundations.

The ICJ's previous engagement

Since 2010, the ICJ has worked to support the independence of lawyers, and of the legal profession as a whole, in Central Asia, including in the Kyrgyz Republic. In 2013, the ICJ published a report, 'The Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia', which analysed the situation of the legal profession in the Kyrgyz Republic, as well as in the other countries of Central Asia. It recommended then that: "In states where a unified structure of lawyers' associations does not already exist, steps should be taken to establish such a structure, that is independent of government and other executive bodies, and is mandated, empowered and adequately resourced to ensure the quality, integrity and accountability of the profession."³ The ICJ therefore welcomed the adoption of the new law and the creation of the Advokatura as a unified and independent association of lawyers as the first step in the longer-term task of establishing a strong and independent legal profession.

The Report

The report consists of six chapters. The introduction provides background information and a brief context that existed prior to the reform introduced by the Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic. Chapter II provides a brief historical background to the establishment of the new bar association; Chapter III describes the organizational structure of the Advokatura and the legal framework related to it; Chapter IV lays out some of the main issues of access to the profession; Chapter V is dedicated to the issues of ethics and accountability of lawyers; and Chapter VI provides conclusions and recommendations, which are based on international law and standards as well as the ICJ's comparative perspective and expertise.

³ ICJ Report 2013, *Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia*, http://www.icj.org/new-icj-report-highlights-the-challenges-faced-by-the-legal-profession-in-central-asia/, p. 84.

II. Background: The establishment of the bar association of the Kyrgyz Republic

Historical background

The Bar Association of the Kyrgyz Republic, established in the Soviet era, was significantly reformed following the break-up of the USSR. In 1999, as a result of a reform, legal representation was equated to "entrepreneurial activity". Following this change in the law, public discussions reflected the need for further reforms.⁴ In 2004, as a result of negotiations involving the Ministry of Justice, members of Parliament, the legal profession and representatives of the international community, a new law "On Advokatura and Lawyers' Activity" was drafted. The draft law was nearly enacted twice, in 2005 and in 2010, but the revolutionary change of governments in each of those years stalled the process, despite the urgent need for reform of the legal profession. While countries elsewhere in the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) region had structures that governed the legal profession, the Kyrgyz Republic remained for several years an anomaly in that it lacked a unified bar association⁵ or other institutions to regulate the profession.⁶

Regulation of the legal profession, a role that should under international standards belong to the profession itself, was carried out by the Ministry of Justice directly until 2015. This meant that the qualification and disciplinary body of the Ministry of Justice—the Qualification Commission—decided on the matters of qualification of lawyers and disciplinary measures. No universal Code of Ethics to govern the legal profession existed at this time.

In its 2012 report, "The Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia", the ICJ noted that the law did not establish or recognize a unified organization of lawyers nor an independent self-governing body, and that this meant that functions that should normally be carried out independently by the legal profession, such as disciplinary action, were carried out directly by the Ministry of Justice.⁷ The ICJ therefore welcomed moves towards the creation of a unified bar association, but emphasized that: "such an association must have as its primary goal the maintenance of the independence of the profession and action in defence of individual lawyers. Safeguards must therefore be in place to protect against undue influence of the association by outside interests, and to ensure its democratic governance by the members of the legal profession."⁸

In February 2012, the Parliamentary Committee on Constitutional Legislation, State Structure and Human Rights approved the draft law in the second reading. The draft law was not brought to the Parliament for a vote that year and was not placed again on the Committee's agenda until June 2014; it was then approved in second and third readings. The Parliament finally adopted the bill in late June 2014, and President Almazbek Atambayev singed it into law in mid-July.⁹ The new law established, for the first time, a unified legal profession, under an independent association of lawyers—named in the law as "Advokatura".¹⁰ Thus a statutory framework was created for an independent, self-governing and unified nationwide profession, with the Advokatura, an association of lawyers, in charge of the qualification process, in compliance with the principles of integrity and transparency; implementation of standards of professional ethics; and professional

⁸ *Ibid.*, p. 14.

⁴ See Background statement attached to the Draft Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity".

⁵ Until 2015, in Tajikistan, two parallel legal professions exited, one of which was independent. See e.g. *ICJ Report, Inde*pendence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit.

⁶ Though there was no single organization to which lawyers belonged there were a number of NGOs of which some lawyers were members. This was in line with legislation under which only organizations without compulsory membership could be established in the country.

⁷ ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit., p. 13.

⁹ See Legal Profession Reform Index for the Kyrgyz Republic, American Bar Association, July 2014, http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/directories/roli/kyrgyzstan/roli-kyrgyz-republic-legal-profession-reformindex-2014.authcheckdam.pdf, p. 6.

¹⁰ M. Madykov, Advocate and legal profession in the Kyrgyz Republic: incomplete reform.

training of its members.¹¹ However, this new law introduced a new type of an organization, a public association with mandatory membership, a type of legal entity which had not been previously provided for in Kyrgyz law. The statutory framework introduced was not sufficient to support this legal development, as will be described later in this report.

The First Founding Conference of Lawyers of the Kyrgyz Republic established the Advokatura on 26 November 2014. The Conference also approved the Charter of the Advokatura, established its governing bodies and adopted the Code of Ethics of Lawyers, applicable to all members of the Advokatura, something that had not existed before. Pursuant to the decision of the Conference of 26 November 2014, the Chuy-Bishkek Department of Justice registered the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic on 26 December 2014, in accordance with the established procedure for registering public associations.

Under the law "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and Lawyers' Activity", all lawyers already practicing in the Kyrgyz Republic preserved their status of a lawyer. On 26 January 2015, the Council of Lawyers of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic opened registration of admissions of lawyers to the Advokatura¹² of the Kyrgyz Republic.¹³

The creation of a unified profession and the automatic preservation of the status of lawyer, for those who already had licenses to practice, did not mean, however, that every lawyer automatically joined the Advokatura. Lawyers were required to file an application to join the Association within one month of its registration, which took place on 26 December 2014. One month later, however, only a very small number of lawyers had actually joined the Advokatura. Their reasons for not joining varied but included a lack of knowledge that this institution was created and, for some, a principled refusal to join it. It would be fair to note that one month was too short a period for all lawyers across the country to register. The ICJ understands that information about the registration process was disseminated widely and genuine attempts were made to alert lawyers of the need to join the profession within a rather brief period of time. Despite this, the Advokatura needed to prolong the deadline for filing application to join it twice, first to the end of February 2015 and then to the end of March 2015, when registration was finally closed. By the end of September 2015, the time of the mission, only about 1,800 of 3,000 licensed lawyers had signed up to join the Advokatura. The number was thought to be reasonable and reflected the fact that many of those with a licence to practice law who had not joined the Advokatura had deliberately not done so for reasons including that they had ceased their practice at the time of the re-registration; were working abroad or working in other professions; had passed away; or simply did not to want to join the new Advokatura as a matter of principle. It is unclear how many fall into this latter category and if their numbers are significant. However, cases were reported of lawyers who had not registered in time and who were prevented from visiting their clients or entering courts when they could not produce an ID showing they belonged to the new Advokatura.

Overcoming mistrust and inertia

Even before the creation of a unified profession in the Kyrgyz Republic, the ICJ was aware of concerns amongst Kyrgyz lawyers about the establishment of one organization to which all lawyers must belong. These concerns were reflected in the ICJ report of 2012, which noted that: "[a] range of sources have expressed concern to the ICJ about the creation, under the proposed law, of a single association, to which all lawyers would be required to belong, on the basis that the association could be used by the authorities or by powerful private interests to interfere with lawyer's independent exercise of their profession."¹⁴

¹¹ Legal Profession Reform Index for the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., p. 7.

¹² Prior to the new Law "On Advokatura", lawyers were not required to belong to or be otherwise associated with any organization to practice law. See: *ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit.*, p. 13.

¹³ G. Kozhomova, Today's situation and reform of lawyers' activity in the Kyrgyz Republic. http://advokatura.kg/ index.php/2015-01-24-14-40-29/2015-01-24-15-01-33/63-2015-04-01-17-20-42.

¹⁴ ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit., p. 14.

Currently, at this early stage after the establishment of the new Advokatura, there is a certain level of scepticism on the part of ordinary lawyers, and a lack of full trust in the Advokatura and its bodies. This may be partly explained by low expectations and a lack of trust in bureaucratic structures. While this scepticism from Kyrgyz lawyers could be seen as an obstacle to their fruitful engagement with the Advokatura, a certain degree of mistrust may also serve as an effective check against corruption or poor management of the organization, particularly when this takes the shape of a heightened level of scrutiny and analysis. In a seminar to discuss the new structures, organized by the ICJ during the mission, lawyers were eager to engage with representatives of the new bodies of the Advokatura. It is also notable that the leaders of the Advokatura are close to their colleagues in ranks and have a good understanding of the real state of affairs within the profession.

Many lawyers who practiced law under the old system have a somewhat cautious attitude to the new structures of the Advokatura, finding it difficult to understand the need for the reform of their profession. There is scepticism as to what a unified bar association could offer to lawyers that could not be achieved without it. Those lawyers see the new organization as another bureaucracy that imposes on them certain obligations such as paying fees, conducting regular compulsory training, and oversees ethical standards of their work. Such lawyers argue that they do not need a mechanism to control them or say what they should or should not do. Some also mistrust the new professional structures as having the potential to impede lawyers' work and interfere with their diligent and principled defence of clients.

Synchronization of laws to bring them in line with other legislation

Whether the legal framework of the Kyrgyz Republic allowed for the creation of a bar association as a public organization with mandatory membership became one of the most debated issues of the reform. According to the law of the Kyrgyz Republic: "A non-commercial organization is a voluntary self-governing organization established by physical and/or legal persons on the basis of unity of their interests [...]."¹⁵ The law therefore did not expressly provide a basis for the creation of non-commercial public organizations with membership that was mandatory rather than voluntary. On the constitutional level, such organizations are also not provided for where it is stated that "Political parties, labour unions and other public associations may be established by citizens on the basis of a free-will [...]"¹⁶ and that "everyone has freedom of association".¹⁷ It was therefore conceptually and legally difficult to reconcile the idea of a compulsory membership of a bar association with the limitations of the existing legal framework.

These legal uncertainties prompted a constitutional action against the newly-enacted law "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and Lawyers' Activity". A number of lawyers brought a case before the Constitutional Chamber of the Supreme Court challenging the reform. In particular, the lawyers challenged the mandatory character of membership of the bar association; disciplinary measures imposed by the Advokatura for violation of the Code of Ethics or non-payment of membership fees as being contrary to the right of freedom of association; and the requirement to become members of the Advokatura within one month as limiting their rights to a greater extent than is provided for by the Constitution.¹⁸ The Constitutional Chamber noted that "The Advokatura due to its particular importance is vested by the Constitution with an exceptional public legal status, which in essence, removes it from the from ordinary citizens' associations."¹⁹ It decided that "only under the condition of legal certainty, clarity, unambiguousness and consistency in the system of legal regulation of advocates' activity is it possible to reach a full resolution of the constitutional tasks, meanwhile it is important to follow the principle of a proportionate State interference on the one hand, evaluation of the real capacities

¹⁵ The Law of the Kyrgyz Republic of 15 October 1999 No. 111 "On Non-Commercial Organizations", article 2.

¹⁶ The Constitution of the Kyrgyz Republic, article 4.

¹⁷ *Ibid.*, article 35.

¹⁸ The Decision of the Constitutional Chamber of the Supreme Court of 11 March 2015, "On Checking the constitutionality of certain normative provisions of the Law of the Kyrgyz Republic 'On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity''', http://advokatura.kg/Documents/O%20проверке%20конституционности%20отдельных%20нормативных%20 положений.docx.

of the organization itself as well as its institutional capabilities to carry out certain functions, without violation of the principle of independence and self-sufficiency of lawyers, on the other." 20

Apart from the matter of principle as to whether the Constitution or the law allowed for mandatory membership public associations to exist at all, it still remains unclear how such an organization fits within the legislative framework. The ICJ mission encountered a lot of uncertainty as to what "organizational-legal form" associations of lawyers belong to. The problem emerged from the old system's registration of lawyers as entrepreneurs (see historical background above). It was the impression of the mission that this lack of clarity pointed to an objective problem that exists in the law. The situation where lawyers, en masse, do not have certainty as to what legal regime applies to their bar association still remains to be fully addressed. Resolving this uncertainty will also enable lawyers to fully understand further consequences of the adoption of the law, including the applicable taxation regime and the particular status of lawyers provided for by the national legal framework. It also suggests that further harmonization of laws should take place, perhaps including legislation to give the Advokatura a special status as a *sui generis* legal form of incorporation. The Legislation Committee of the Advokatura, which was established by law, would be well placed to make proposals in this regard. The Committee plays a crucial role in analyzing draft laws and proposing the legislative amendments necessary for harmonizing laws affecting the legal profession. It was reported that proposals are being drafted by a specialised working group of the Legislation Committee of the Council of Advokatura for specific legislation that would take account of the legal status of the Advokatura as a special organization. This approach appears prima facie to be appropriate.

III. Organization and governance of advokatura

International standards on the role and independence of bar associations

International standards on the independence of lawyers recognize the role of selfgoverning institutions of the legal profession, such as bar associations, as being of utmost importance. The UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers assert that professional associations of lawyers play "a vital role in upholding professional standards and ethics, protecting their members from persecution and improper restrictions and infringements, providing legal services to all in need of them, and cooperating with governmental and other institutions in furthering the ends of justice and public interest."²¹ Under international law and standards, lawyers have a right to form professional associations. The UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers guarantee that "[I]awyers shall be entitled to form and join self-governing professional associations to represent their interests, promote their continuing education and training and protect their professional integrity."²²

The UN Basic Principles, in common with other international standards on the role of lawyers, require that bar associations must be independent from government and other executive and private interests. Such independence must be protected in both law and in practice. In particular, the "executive body of the professional associations of lawyers shall be elected by its members and shall exercise its functions without external interference."²³

The independence of bar associations from government does not, however, mean that they should not cooperate with governments. The UN Basic Principles recognize that such cooperation will often be necessary to ensure effective and equal access to legal services and that lawyers are able to advise and assist their clients in accordance with the law and recognized professional standards and ethics, without improper interference.²⁴

In order to ensure the independent and effective functioning of the legal profession, and to truly "protect the professional integrity" of lawyers, self-governing professional associations of lawyers must also have sufficient competencies and powers relating to the legal profession to be able to protect and strengthen it. These include powers in relation to the qualification and continuing education of lawyers, and competence in relation to disciplinary proceedings against lawyers.²⁵

Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic

The Law "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and Lawyers' Activity" defines the Advokatura as a self-governed professional community of lawyers that requires membership of all lawyers of the Kyrgyz Republic, which is established on the basis of their common professional interests. The Advokatura should express and protect the interests of lawyers, facilitate their professional development and facilitate the promotion of lawyers' work.²⁶ It operates pursuant to the Law "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and Lawyers' Activity" and the Advokatura Charter.²⁷ The law defines the Advokatura as an "institute" of civil society.²⁸ It is a non-profit legal entity with an independent form of incorporation. It does not aim to make a profit and cannot establish or take part in commercial entities.²⁹ The principal objectives of the Advokatura are: 1) develop-

²¹ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Preamble.

²² Ibid., Principle 24.

²³ Ibid., Principle 24. See also Draft Universal Declaration on the Independence of Justice ('Singhvi Declaration'), prepared by Dr L. V. Singhvi, UN Special Rapporteur on the Study on the Independence of the Judiciary, para. 97.

²⁴ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 25.

²⁵ Singhvi Declaration, para. 99; Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, Principle 24.

²⁶ See Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 135 of 14 July 2014 "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", section 2(1).

²⁷ *Ibid.*, article 2(2).

²⁸ *Ibid.*, article 2(2).

²⁹ *Ibid.*, article 2(3).

ment of the Advokatura and lawyers' activity; 2) ensuring professional quality of legal representation; 3) representing lawyers and defending their rights and legitimate interests; and 4) improving qualifications of lawyers.³⁰

Under the law, the Advokatura exercises the following functions, among others: consolidating lawyers into one professional association and coordinating the activities of the "Territorial" (Regional) Advokaturas; promoting recognition, respect and protection of human rights and freedoms; defending the legitimate interests, honour and dignity of lawyers and their social and professional rights; promoting continuing education of lawyers and developing guidance for training and retraining of lawyers and assistant lawyers; outlining common principles and standards of professional ethics applicable to lawyers and the operation of the Advokatura; representing lawyers before municipal and public authorities; and establishing the procedure for being admitted to the Advokatura.³¹

Since its establishment on 26 December 2014, a number of standards and procedures of the Advokatura have been adopted. These include such key documents as the Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, the Code of Professional Ethics of Lawyers of the Kyrgyz Republic, Regulations on the Ethics Commission of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, and the Strategic Plan for 2015–2017. The documents have been made available to the lawyers' community though online and paper publications.

Territorial Advokaturas

The Advokatura has regional or, according to the law, "territorial" affiliates³² incorporated as its branches:³³ these are the Bishkek City Advokatura, Osh City Advokatura, Batken Region Advokatura, Jalal-Abad Region Advokatura, Issyk-Kul Region Advokatura, Naryn Region Advokatura, Osh Region Advokatura, Talas Region Advokatura, and Chuy Region Advokatura. The Territorial Advokatura are branches of the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and are not regarded as separate legal entities by the law of the Kyrgyz Republic; they operate within the powers conferred on them by the national Advokatura.³⁴ Territorial Advokatura operate on the basis of the Charter of the Kyrgyz Terrotrial Advokatura and the Regulation approved by the Council of Lawyers.³⁵ *At* the same time, the Territorial Advokatura operate on the basis of principles of financial selfsufficiency.³⁶

According to the law, the objectives of the Territorial Advokatura include: representing and defending the rights and legitimate interests, honour, dignity and good name of lawyers before public, law-enforcement, judicial and other bodies; contributing to legal, social, financial, professional and personal security of the Advokatura members; and organizing the provision of qualified legal representation by lawyers to individuals and legal entities for the purpose of defending their rights, freedoms and legitimate interests, as well as facilitating their access to justice.³⁷

The law makes a relatively clear distinction between the functions of central and territorial advokaturas. According to the Charter, membership fees are paid to territorial advokaturas, rather than to the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic.³⁸ However, it was reported to the ICJ that so far this procedure has not been followed and the fees are being paid to the Council of the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic. This may be attributed to the early stages of the development of the Advokatura and it remains to be seen how such allocations of funds will be distributed in the future.

³⁰ See the *Charter of the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit.*, para. 3.1.

³¹ For the full list of functions under the Charter see: Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, para. 3.3.

³² As of the date of this Background Report (June—July 2015), effort was made to establish local affiliates of Advokatura in every region and city of regional subordination of the Republic.

³³ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para 6.1.

³⁴ See Standard Regulation on the Territorial Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic, para. 2.1.

³⁵ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 6.2.

³⁶ Standard Regulation on the Territorial Advokatura in the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 1.7.

³⁷ *Ibid.*, para. 3.1.

³⁸ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 7.5.

Structure and Bodies of Advokatura

The Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic consists of several bodies, including: the Conference of Lawyers, The Council of Advokatura, the Ethics Commission of the Advokatura, the Auditing Commission and the Lawyers' Training Centre. The Advokatura also created a specialised body to protect its members against various types of abuse and violations—the Committee on the Rights of Lawyers; this was not initially mentioned in the law but created later following the adoption by the Council of regulations on the Committee.

a) Conference of Lawyers

The Conference of Lawyers is the highest governing body of the Advokatura.³⁹ It is convened every three years, pursuant to the decision of the Council of Lawyers which determines the date, time and place of the Conference.⁴⁰ An Extraordinary Conference of Lawyers is convened pursuant to the decision of the Council of Lawyers, or on the initiative of at least one third of the Advokatura members.⁴¹ The quorum is met if at least one half of delegates, elected from among all members of the Advokatura, are present.⁴² The Conference has broad competences which allows it to self-regulate the profession including though adoption of the Charter, forming the Council of the Advokatura; adoption of the Code of Professional Ethics of Lawyers; election of members of the Commission on Ethics and of the Auditing Commission; determining the amount of fees paid by territorial advokaturas; and determining the amount of remuneration paid to the President, Deputy President and members of the Council of Lawyers.⁴³

b) Council of Lawyers

The Council of Lawyers is the executive body of the Advokatura. It consists of up to nine members elected, by secret ballot from members of the Advokatura at the Conference of Lawyers, for a term of three years.⁴⁴ The form of ballot is approved by the Organizing Committee of the Council of Lawyers.⁴⁵ The legal framework established allows the Council of Lawyers to have rather broad powers, sufficient to ensure self-regulation of the profession. Among other things it carries out such functions as developing and approving the Rules and Procedures of the Council of Lawyers; approving regulations of local affiliates for the purpose of coordinating their activities; determining and approving the amount of membership fees paid by lawyers; approving the procedure for paying membership fees; determining the budget of the Advokatura; defending social and professional rights of lawyers; submitting proposals to the Ministry of Justice to suspend or annul legal practitioners' licenses, pursuant to decisions made by the Commission on Ethics of Advokatura; contributing to expert appraisal and drafting laws and regulations; contributing to establishing the procedure for taking a qualification exam, evaluating the skills of candidate lawyers and the list of exam questions; summarizing disciplinary practice and drafting recommendations; appointing and dismissing the Director of the Lawyers Training Centre under the Advokatura; approving the curriculum and standard guidelines for professional training and retraining of lawyers and assistant lawyers, and organizing such training; and nominating candidates to the Qualification Commission.4

It has been reported to the ICJ that discussions are underway about a possibility to increase the term of membership of the Council of Advokatura from three years, as is currently prescribed by law, to five or even seven years. The reasoning suggested for such a change is that a three year period does not permit enough time to achieve sufficient results. While understanding the challenges the Council faces in developing a new organization within a short term of office, the ICJ is concerned that these attempts

³⁹ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 6(1).

⁴⁰ *Ibid.*, article 6(2).

⁴¹ Ibid.

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 5.2.2.

⁴⁴ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 7(1).

⁴⁵ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 5.2.9.

⁴⁶ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 5.3.2.

further undermine efforts to establish the trust of the members of the Advokatura, which may be gained including through constant and genuine rotation of members of the various bodies of the Advokatura.

c) The Qualification Commission

The law does not guarantee an independent status of the Qualification Commission, the main qualification body of the Advokatura. The Qualification Commission is established under the Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic.⁴⁷ The Qualification Commission consists of seven members: four representatives of the Advokatura, with at least five years of legal practice experience, nominated by the Council of Lawyers and three representatives of the Ministry of Justice.⁴⁸

The Qualification Commission has the following functions: holding a qualification exam to obtain a license to practice law; ⁴⁹ and, deciding whether a candidate should be allowed to take a qualification exam or not, following a verification of documents.⁵⁰ Chapter IV describes the procedure for access to the profession in greater detail.

d) Commission on Ethics of the Advokatura

The Commission on Ethics is a collective disciplinary body of the Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic ("the Commission") responsible for examination of applications, complaints and requests of individuals and/or legal entities, proposals of law-enforcement bodies and interim decisions (orders) of courts (collectively, "applications") to apply disciplinary measures concerning violations of professional ethics by lawyers.⁵¹

The Commission is established for a term of three years. It consists of nine members, who should have at least five years of legal practice experience.⁵² Members of the Commission are elected by ballot⁵³ and the President of the Commission is elected from among its members for the three-year term. The Commission has a quorum if at least two thirds of its members attend.⁵⁴ It is convened by the President when necessary but at least four times a year.⁵⁵

Functions of the Commission include: preparation of examination of applications; decision on the institution of disciplinary proceedings; familiarization of lawyers with applications against them and documents attached thereto, as well as obtaining a written explanatory statement from the lawyer; accepting any factual information or evidence produced by the lawyer or individuals who lodged the respective complaints; obtaining information related to the inquiry from municipal or public authorities or companies, regardless of their form of incorporation; examination of the materials of pre-trial and trial proceedings related to the subject of the inquiry, in compliance with the confidentiality requirements (where applicable); and taking a reasoned decision following the disciplinary proceedings.⁵⁶

After having examined the application or complaint, the Commission makes its decision.⁵⁷ The decision of the Commission is taken, by ballot, by simple majority of attending members. The minutes of the meeting are signed by the President of the Commission and its Secretary.⁵⁸ The Regulation on the Commission should be approved by the Council of Lawyers.⁵⁹

⁴⁷ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 21(1).

⁴⁸ *Ibid.*, article 21(2).

⁴⁹ *Ibid.*, article 21(1).

⁵⁰ *Ibid.*, article 20(2).

⁵¹ See the *Regulation on the Commission on Ethics of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit.*, para. 1.1.

⁵² Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 8(1).

⁵³ Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 5.2.9.

⁵⁴ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 8(1).

⁵⁵ *Ibid.*, article 8(3).

⁵⁶ Regulation on the Commission on Ethics of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 2.1.

⁵⁷ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 8(4); Regulation on the Commission on Ethics of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 1.4.

⁵⁸ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., para. 8(5).

⁵⁹ *Ibid.*, article 8(6).

e) Audit Commission

The Audit Commission is an important internal control body, established under the law, which exercises control over financial and economic activities of the Advokatura. It is accountable to the Conference of Lawyers.⁶⁰ The Advokatura Charter determines the procedure for establishing the Audit Commission and its operation.⁶¹ The Audit Commission submits its opinion regarding the performance of the Advokatura over the year to the Council of Lawyers. It submits its reports to the Conference of Lawyers for approval every three years. Members of the Audit Commission are elected by ballot.⁶² Lawyers who are members of the Commission may practice law at the same time as sitting on the Audit Commission, but cannot sit on the Council of Lawyers.⁶³

f) Lawyers Training Centre

Under international standards, it is the role of governments, professional associations of lawyers and educational institutions to ensure that lawyers have appropriate education and training and be made aware of the ideals and ethical duties of lawyers.⁶⁴ The Lawyers Training Centre, which functions under the Advokatura as an independent legal entity, seeks to organize professional training and retraining of lawyers.⁶⁵ The Charter of the Training Centre determines its operating and financial procedures.⁶⁶ The Charter is approved by the Conference of Lawyers.⁶⁷ The Lawyers' Training Centre existed as an NGO prior to the reform of the legal profession, and should become a part of the Advokatura in the near future, as prescribed by the law.⁶⁸ One of the biggest concerns that lawyers raised in regard to the new Advokatura was whether it would be mandatory for lawyers to pay for continuing legal education provided by the Training Centre. Unsurprisingly, lawyers prefer the education to be provided for free, however members of the Training Centre insist that lawyers should pay for their continuing legal education. Bearing in mind that lawyers pay only €2.5 per month for their Advokatura membership, it is indeed difficult to expect that the Training Centre would be able to provide any training without being financially supported in another way.

g) The Committee on the Rights of Lawyers

The Committee on the Rights of Lawyers is a body within the Advokatura that was not foreseen under the law. Its creation was decided at a later stage by the Council of Advokatura. Despite its non-statutory genesis, the Committee is considered to be a fully-fledged body of the Advokatura that operates as one of its most active bodies.

During the ICJ's mission some lawyers said that the protection of the rights of lawyers should be the priority for the Advokatura as it is only this function that gives meaning to its existence. Though it would be difficult to agree with such a limited role of any association of lawyers, protecting the rights of lawyers under threat is clearly an important issue of concern for lawyers in the Kyrgyz Republic. In recent years the ICJ has engaged on a number of occasions in cases where Kyrgyz lawyers were under attack. After the ethnic clashes of 2010, threats and insults to lawyers were common and sometimes lawyers were subjected to physical attacks.⁶⁹ While the situation later normalized, cases of attacks against lawyers still arise in which attempts are made to harass them or undermine their work.⁷⁰

⁶⁰ *Ibid.*, article 9(1).

⁶¹ *Ibid.*, article 9(2).

⁶² Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para 5.2.9.

⁶³ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 9(3).

⁶⁴ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 9.

⁶⁵ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 10(1).

⁶⁶ As of the July 2015, the LTC has not yet adopted its new Charter.

⁶⁷ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 10(2).

⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, article 10.

⁶⁹ Kyrgyzstan: measures to end attacks on lawyers and defendants urgently needed, http://www.icj.org/kyrgizstanmeasures-to-end-attacks-on-lawyers-and-defendants-urgently-needed/.

⁷⁰ Kyrgyzstan: ICJ condemns assaults on lawyers in Supreme Court, http://www.icj.org/kyrgyzstan-icj-condemns-assaultson-lawyers-in-supreme-court/.

Lawyers are the weakest actors of the justice system in the Central Asian region and in the Kyrgyz Republic in particular. The ICJ report of 2012 noted that: "the ICJ has witnessed an endemic problem of lack of respect for the legal profession on behalf of the investigatory authorities, prosecutors' office, judges as well as other state bodies. Contrary to the situation in many other countries, the legal profession in Central Asia is often seen as the 'poor relative' in the justice system."⁷¹ The country situation of the Kyrgyz Republic described in the report followed the general pattern of the region: "[d]espite the guarantees in legislation described above, in practice, lawyers face obstacles in representing their clients effectively in criminal trials."⁷²

In Kyrgyzstan, attempts to undermine the independent work of lawyers may take different forms. They have included cases of attempts of disbarment of lawyers,⁷³ physical attacks of lawyers,⁷⁴ removal of a lawyer from representation of her client,⁷⁵ as well as threats of criminal prosecution. In a recent case, appeals against searches of lawyers' offices and homes and seizure of their legal files by law enforcement reached the Supreme Court. The Court adopted an important decision that condemned the the actions of the bodies of prosecution and investigation as illegal and reaffirmed the guarantees afforded to lawyers against searches, in relation to cases in which they represent the interests of their clients, as guaranteed both under national law of the Kyrgyz Republic and international law and standards on the role of lawyers.⁷⁶ For the first time, the legal profession, in particular the Council of Advokatura, intervened in a case where the rights of lawyers were involved. The Council published a statement in support of the lawyers and they presented their position as a third party at the hearings before the Supreme Court. The Court's decision in favour of lawyers supported institutionally by the profession vividly demonstrated the importance of a unified profession capable of acting in the interests of their members and on issues of institutional and constitutional importance.

Bodies of Territorial Advokaturas

a) General Meeting of Lawyers of the territory

The highest governing body of the Territorial Advokatura is the General Meeting of Lawyers of the territory,⁷⁷ which takes place at least once a year.⁷⁸ An extraordinary meeting may be convened on the initiative of the Conference of Lawyers, by the Board of the Territorial Advokatura or more than one third of lawyers belonging to the relevant territorial advokatura.⁷⁹ The General Meeting has the following functions:⁸⁰ election of the President, Deputy President and members to the Board of the Territorial Advokatura; and any other issues referred to the competence of the General Meeting of Lawyers by the Charter of the Territorial Advokatura. The General Meeting of Lawyers has a quorum if more than one half of members of the Territorial Advokatura have registered to take part therein by the date on which registration is closed.⁸¹ The Charter of the Territorial Advokatura sets out the procedure for holding a General Meeting of Lawyers.⁸²

⁷¹ ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit., p. 57.

⁷² *Ibid.*, p. 67.

⁷³ Kyrgyz Republic: ICJ observes the Supreme Court hearings concerning confidentiality of legal documents, http://www.icj.org/kyrgyz-republic-icj-observes-the-supreme-court-hearings-concerning-confidentiality-of-legaldocuments/.

⁷⁴ Kyrgyzstan: lawyer Dinara Turdumatova must be protected following physical assault by State official, http://www.icj.org/kyrgyzstan-lawyer-dinara-turdumatova-must-be-protected-following-physical-assault-by-stateofficial/.

⁷⁵ Kyrgyz Republic: removal of lawyer by police official without client's consent violates international law, http://www.icj.org/ kyrgyz-republic-removal-of-lawyer-by-police-official-without-clients-consent-violates-international-law/.

⁷⁶ Kyrgyz Republic: Supreme Court decision protects the role of lawyers and the independence of the judiciary, http://www.icj.org/kyrgyz-republic-supreme-court-decision-protects-the-role-of-lawyers-and-the-independence-of-thejudiciary/.

⁷⁷ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 13(1).

⁷⁸ Standard Regulation on Territorial Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 4.3.

⁷⁹ Ibid., para. 4.3.

⁸⁰ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 13(2).

⁸¹ *Ibid.*, article 13(3).

⁸² *Ibid.*, article 13(4).

b) Board of Territorial Advokatura

The Board of the Territorial Advokatura (the "Board") is the executive body of the Territorial Advokatura. It is elected by secret ballot at the General Meeting and consists of five lawyers, practicing in the relevant locality, who are elected for a term of three years.⁸³ The President and Deputy President of the Board are elected from among the members of the Board.⁸⁴ The President of the Board manages day-to-day activities of the Territorial Advokatura, which are accountable to the General Meeting. He or she acts as an authorized representative of the Territorial Advokatura on the basis of the powers of attorney.⁸⁵

The Board is responsible for all matters outlined in the Charter of the Territorial Advokatura that are not covered by the competence of the General Meeting,⁸⁶ such as: ⁸⁷ executing the decisions of the Advokatura; supporting and completing current and long-term plans; giving incentive awards to lawyers who are members of the Territorial Advokatura; applying the Territorial Advokatura's funds and assets; submitting proposals and recommendations to approve its financial estimate and report to the Council of Lawyers of Advokatura; submitting proposals to the Advokatura to introduce amendments to the Regulation of the Territorial Advokatura; and developing its staffing structure and having this approved by the Advokatura.

Independence of the Advokatura

The mission did not hear any concerns regarding pressure exerted by the executive on the Advokatura, which could undermine the independence of the legal profession. It seems that independent decision making, based on the interests and priorities of the Advokatura itself, remains unimpeded. At this early stage in the establishment of the Advokatura, setting up the new institutions entails the involvement of government actors, as well as international and donor organizations. Such external influence and involvement is necessary, at these initial stages of the creation of the Advokatura. In the long-term, it is important that the Advokatura becomes a strong enough institution that it is capable of organizing the legal profession independently of any undue external pressures whether from State institutions or private parties. This in no way means that the Advokatura should work in isolation, bearing in mind that the UN Basic Principles statement that bar associations: "shall cooperate with Governments to ensure that everyone has effective and equal access to legal services and that lawyers are able without improper interference, to counsel and assist their clients in a accordance with the law and recognized professional standards and ethics."⁸⁸

Financial Sustainability of the Advokatura

The financial sustainability of the Advokatura, which is fundamental to its institutional sustainability, appears to be rather weak and require strengthening. The ICJ mission understood that, as of now, the Advokatura cannot be financially sustained on its membership fees alone and depends to a large extent on external support. The Strategic Plan of the Advokatura for 2015–2017 mentions development of a plan of institutional growth and financial sustainability under Objective 1 "Institutional establishment, organizational development, management of Advokatura". Currently, the Advokatura clearly depends on external resources and would not be able to operate without them.

At the same time, attempts to increase membership fees are met with some opposition from lawyers. This is understandable in the context of the lack of trust and understanding of the true value of an independent profession. At this point in time it seems to be unavoidable for the Advokatura to depend on external financial support rather than on their own fees, however, with time a lack of financial self-sustainability may become problematic. The mission learned that some territorial advokaturas, for example in Osh

⁸³ *Ibid.*, article 14(1).

⁸⁴ *Ibid.*, article 14(2).

⁸⁵ Standard Regulation on Territorial Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 4.12.

⁸⁶ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 14(3)

⁸⁷ Standard Regulation on Territorial Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 4.9.

⁸⁸ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 25.

and Naryn, have taken the initiative to increase the fees in order to sustain their organizations after having realized that the generally accepted fees did not reflect the reality of their costs. Moreover, they have established their own bookkeeping offices. However, this development has raised concern amongst some lawyers as it is clearly prescribed in the law as well as in the Charter of the Advokatura that it is the Congress of Lawyers that establishes the level of fees to be paid.⁸⁹

The Advokatura has all the necessary institutions to ensure financial transparency and gain the trust of the public and the lawyers. The Audit Commission is particularly important in ensuring transparency of the organization. Some lawyers expressed the opinion that the Audit Commission has not yet started playing the role that it should play in ensuring transparency and thus ensuring the trust of the colleagues and the public in the work of the Advokatura bodies. It is especially important that it takes on this role in order to strengthen confidence in the financial transparency of the Advokatura.

⁸⁹ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 6(3)(7); Charter of Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic, op. cit., para. 5.2.2.

IV. Access to the profession

International standards on access to the profession

According to international standards, entry to the legal profession must be open to all persons with the requisite qualifications. Under the UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers: "[g]overnments, professional associations of lawyers and educational institutions shall ensure that there is no discrimination against a person with respect to entry into or continued practice within the legal profession on the grounds of race, colour, sex, ethnic origin, religion, political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth, economic or other status, except that a requirement, that a lawyer must be a national of the country concerned, shall not be considered discriminatory."⁹⁰

The importance of professional qualifications was stressed in the UN Human Rights Council Resolution 23/6 which stated that lawyers should: "possess the professional qualifications required for the performance of their functions through improved methods of recruitment and legal and professional training, and through the provision of all necessary means for the proper performance of their role in ensuring the rule of law."⁹¹ In the Council of Europe region, Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Council of Europe Committee of Ministers emphasizes the importance of the qualification process: "decisions concerning the authorization to practise as a lawyer or to accede to the profession, should be taken by an independent body. Such decisions, whether or not taken by an independent body, should be subject to review by an independent and impartial judicial authority."

Kyrgyzstan legal framework and practical issues

Requirements to be licensed as a lawyer

A license to practice law may be granted to a national of the Kyrgyz Republic who has completed higher legal education, has at least one year of experience in legal practice,⁹² and has passed the qualification exam.⁹³ Under certain circumstances the license cannot be granted.⁹⁴

Individuals with five years of professional experience in the following fields are licensed without having to pass the qualification exam: 1) experience in investigative services of law-enforcement bodies; 2) as a judge; 3) as a member of the staff of the President, Parliament *(Zhogorku Kenesh)* or Government of the Kyrgyz Republic, in a position that requires higher legal education; 4) as a member of the Parliament, who has completed higher legal education.⁹⁵

Qualification examination process

A person who meets the requirements mentioned above may lodge a request with the Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic to be admitted to the qualification exam. Certain documents should be attached to the application.⁹⁶ The procedure for

⁹⁰ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 10.

⁹¹ Resolution adopted by the Human Rights Council, 23/6, Independence and impartiality of the judiciary, jurors and assessors, and the independence of lawyers, 19 June 2013, A/HRC/RES/23/6, Preamble.

⁹² Experience in legal practice required to be licensed as an advocate includes the following professional experience: 1) as a judge; 2) holding a public position that requires higher legal education in a public agency, including those that used to be in place before the current Constitution of the Kyrgyz Republic was adopted; 3) holding a municipal position that requires higher legal education; 4) as a member of legal services in a company that require higher legal education; 5) working in a research institute, in a position that requires higher legal education; 6) as a professor of law in schools of secondary level, higher level and post-graduate level vocational training; 7) as an assistant advocate; 8) as a notary.

⁹³ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 19(1).

⁹⁴ Anyone who: 1) has been declared legally incapable or partially capable in accordance with the procedure established by the laws of the Kyrgyz Republic; 2) has an outstanding or unspent conviction; 3) has been dismissed from the lawenforcement or other public agency in view of a disciplinary offence—during 1 year from the date of dismissal; 4) has already had his/her license to practice law annulled; 5) has been dismissed from the judicial office in view of reprehensible conduct—during 1 year following such dismissal (Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 135 of 14 July 2014 "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", section 19(2)).

⁹⁵ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 19(4).

⁹⁶ 1) Personal record form; 2) proof of identity and of Kyrgyz citizenship; 3) a notarized copy of a law school diploma; 4) a notarized copy of a document confirming that an applicant has at least one year of legal experience; 5) a reference letter from the last job; 6) a photograph (Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 135 of 14 July 2014 "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", section 20(1)).

the qualification examination⁹⁷ is adopted by the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic and not by the Advokatura itself.⁹⁸ The examinee is considered to have passed the qualification exam if (s)he has answered seventy per cent or more multiple choice questions correctly. The candidates who fail the exam may retake it only after six months.⁹⁹

Based on the result of the exam, the Qualification Commission takes a decision, which is recorded in the form of minutes. On the basis of these minutes, the Ministry of Justice makes its decision regarding the outcome of the exam, which may be challenged before the court within one month from the date on which it was made.¹⁰⁰ Therefore, not only is the qualification conducted by a body that belongs to the Ministry of Justice, but the final decision is made by the Ministry of Justice. This system raises a significant concern in regard to international standards on the independence of lawyers. Both international¹⁰¹ and regional¹⁰² standards guarantee an independent profession. In order to protect this independence, they foresee that access to the profession should be governed by the professional association of lawyers. Among other authorities,¹⁰³ the IBA Standards for the Independence of the Legal Profession provide that it is the function of the Lawyers' Association "to ensure that there is free access to the profession for all persons having the requisite professional competence, without discrimination of any kind, and to give assistance to new entrants into the profession."¹⁰⁴ Since membership in the Advokatura is compulsory for all lawyers, the current system means that the Ministry of Justice exerts significant control over access the profession, a situation that is incompatible with its independence.

Licencing of lawyers

The license to practice law is issued by the Ministry of Justice within one month from the date of the Qualification Commission's decision. The Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic notifies the Advokatura of the licensing within ten business days. The Advokatura notifies the Ministry of Justice of the lawyer's admission within five business days from the receipt of such notice.¹⁰⁵

Licensing of lawyers was one of the particular concerns that lawyers raised with the ICJ mission. Under the previous law, the practice of lawyers was considered to be an entrepreneurial activity and thus fell under the category of activities that should be licensed.¹⁰⁶ Thus, a success in the qualification examination led automatically to a licence to practice law. The new law empowered the Advokatura to check the qualification of a candidate, leading to a certification of a lawyer. However, passing a qualification exam no longer automatically results in obtaining the status of a lawyer, as it used to. A licence is still required to practice law, in addition to the certification; however, the need for having both mechanisms, which apparently duplicate each other, is unclear. The Ministry of Justice's role in the qualification process appears to be excessive. It goes beyond a merely nominal function of issuing an ID or adding the name of a lawyer to a national register. Furthermore, the double qualification, which includes both licencing and the examination, appear to be superfluous and requires further reform.

⁹⁷ As of the date hereof (June–July 2015), the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic has not yet defined the qualification exam process.

⁹⁸ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 21(3).

⁹⁹ *Ibid.*, article 21(4).

¹⁰⁰ *Ibid.*, article 21(5).

¹⁰¹ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, Principle 9; Singhvi Declaration, op. cit., Preamble: "Whereas adequate protection of the human rights and fundamental freedoms to which all persons are entitled, be they economic, social and cultural, or civil and political, requires that all persons have effective access to legal services provided by an independent legal profession."

¹⁰² Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Committee of Ministers to Member states on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer, Principle V.2: "Bar associations or other professional lawyers' associations should be self- governing bodies, independent of the authorities and the public."

¹⁰³ The Singhvi Declaration, op. cit., para. 99(i); Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Committee of Ministers to Member states on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer, op. cit., Principle V.2.

 $^{^{104}\,}$ IBA Standards for the Independence of the Legal Profession (Adopted 1990), para. 18(i).

¹⁰⁵ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 21(6).

 $^{^{106}\,}$ The Law of the Kyrgyz Republic of 3 March 1997, No. 12 "On Licensing", article 8(32).

V. Ethics and accountability of lawyers

International standards on professional ethics and accountability of lawyers

According to international standards, codes of ethics for lawyers should be established by the legal profession itself or by legislation drafted in consultation with members of the profession, and should prescribe conduct in accordance with international standards safeguarding the independence and role of lawyers.¹⁰⁷ These codes should correspond to the principle of legality. In particular, the principle of legality requires that the law be sufficiently clear and foreseeable, since "a norm cannot be regarded as 'law' unless it is formulated with sufficient precision to enable the citizen to regulate his [or her] conduct: he [or she] must be able—if need be with appropriate advice—to foresee, to a degree that is reasonable in the circumstances, the consequences which a given action may entail."¹⁰⁸ Thus, while the professional code of conduct does not have to describe in detail every precise situation which may precipitate disciplinary action and incur disciplinary sanctions, it should at least broadly prescribe standards of professional and ethical behaviour in regard to maintaining independence of the profession, honesty, integrity and fairness of lawyers, prevention of conflict of interests, confidentiality, and acting in the interests of the client.¹⁰⁹

Lawyers' professional duties must be carried out diligently in accordance with the law and recognized standards and ethics of the legal profession.¹¹⁰ The UN Basic Principles provide that "lawyers shall always loyally respect the interests of their clients."¹¹¹ Lawyers must be able to act freely, diligently and fearlessly in accordance with the wishes of their clients, being guided by the established rules, standards and ethics of the profession.¹¹² It must be understood that a lawyer "serve[s] the interests of justice as well as those whose rights and liberties he or she is trusted to assert and defend and it is the lawyers duty not only to plead the client's cause but to be the client's adviser."¹¹³ Respect for a lawyer's professional function and their ability to discharge their professional duties independently, diligently and ethically, is an essential component of the rule of law.¹¹⁴

The UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers provide that "[a]II disciplinary proceedings shall be determined in accordance with the code of professional conduct and other recognized standards and ethics of the legal profession and in the light of [the UN Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers]."¹¹⁵ According to these standards, disciplinary proceedings should be heard by an independent and impartial disciplinary body established by the legal profession, by an independent statutory body, or by a court, and should be subject to independent judicial review.¹¹⁶ Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Council of Europe Committee of Ministers prohibits arbitrariness of the disciplinary action and requires a system which "guarantees the independence of lawyers in the discharge of their professional duties without any improper restriction, influence, inducement, pressure threats or interference, direct or indirect, from any quarter or for any reason."¹¹⁷

Responsibilities of lawyers

Responsibilities of lawyers who are members of the Advokatura are enshrined in the Law "*On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity"*. In particular, lawyers have an obligation to comply with the laws of the Kyrgyz Republic and the Professional Ethics Code; to join the Advokatura within one month of receiving a license; pay mem-

¹⁰⁷ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 9; Singhvi Declaration, op. cit., para. 102.

¹⁰⁸ *Malone v. United Kingdom*, ECtHR, Application No. 8619/79, Judgment of 2 August 1984, para. 66.

¹⁰⁹ See: *IBA International Principles on Conduct for the Legal Profession*, adopted on 28 May 2011.

¹¹⁰ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, op. cit., Principle 14.

¹¹¹ *Ibid.*, Principle 15.

¹¹² Singhvi Declaration, op. cit., para. 83.

 ¹¹³ Code of Conduct for European Lawyers was originally adopted at the CCBE Plenary Session held on 28 October 1988, and subsequently amended during the CCBE Plenary Sessions on 28 November 1998, 6 December 2002 and 19 May 2006.
¹¹⁴ *Ibid.*

¹¹⁵ Basic Principles on the Role of Lawyers, Principle 29.

¹¹⁶ *Ibid.*, Principle 28.

¹¹⁷ Recommendation No. R(2000)21 of the Committee of Ministers to Member States on the freedom of exercise of the profession of lawyer, Council of Europe, op. cit., Preamble.

bership fees as required by the Advokatura; to make use of all lawful means and methods to protect clients' rights, freedoms, and legal interests, and secure their access to justice; to keep confidential information that has become known to them in the course of providing legal representation, unless otherwise authorized by the client; and to improve their professional knowledge and qualifications at least once every three years.¹¹⁸

Certain important obligations are enshrined in the Code of Ethics. In particular a lawyer must represent his or her client in a responsible manner to ensure the quality of his or her legal representation; must act in compliance with the statutory requirements; must make use of all lawful means and methods to protect clients' rights, freedoms, and legal interests, and secure their access to justice; must explain statutory rights and responsibilities to the client, as well as how to exercise them in practice; and when discharging his or her functions, must keep in touch with the client and discuss with them all matters related to the client's interests in the case, as well as adhere to the attorney-client privilege.¹¹⁹

The Code of Ethics provides that, in the exercise of their activities, lawyers shall comply with certain principles of the profession.¹²⁰ These include the principles of independence,¹²¹ reliability (trust),¹²² confidentiality¹²³ and absence of conflict of interests.¹²⁴ A lawyer is responsible for any failure to discharge his or her duties or inadequate discharge of those duties in accordance with the laws of the Kyrgyz Republic and the Advokatura Charter.¹²⁵

Need to increase the ethical awareness and standards of lawyers

Throughout the mission the ICJ was repeatedly told of the serious problem of low ethical and professional standards of lawyers. This is a long-standing problem in the Kyrgyz Republic, as well as in other countries of Central Asia. In its 2012 report, the ICJ expressed a concern in this regard that: "codes of ethics of the legal profession do not play an important role among the legal community in Central Asia. Although individual lawyers in the region may often have strong personal convictions of professional ethical behaviour, nevertheless these do not seem to stem from collectively accepted principles of the work of the profession, consistently applied and enforced. Unlike in countries with a longer tradition of a strong legal profession, the ethical codes or rules of behaviour are not seen as having a binding force or having the potential to improve the quality of the profession. The legal profession as a rule does not perceive itself as the collective bearer of special functions and responsibilities whose behaviour must always correspond to the rules of ethics developed by the profession; nor does it appear to accept that the profession itself must be responsible for upholding such rules among its members. Lawyers' associations in the region therefore have an important role to play in promoting codes of ethics and providing regular information and training to their members on the ethical standards of the profession."¹²⁶

¹¹⁸ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", op. cit., article 26(1).

¹¹⁹ See the Code of Professional Ethics of Advocates of the Kyrgyz Republic, Part 2.

¹²⁰ Ibid., Part 1.

¹²¹ A lawyer must be independent from any outside or internal (corporate) influence and only act pursuant to the provisions of the Constitution of the Kyrgyz Republic, the Law of the Kyrgyz Republic "On Advokatura and Lawyers' Activity", and other laws and regulations governing lawyers' activity, the Advokatura Charter and this Code.

¹²² The client's trust in a lawyer and trustworthiness of the latter shall be based on personal qualifications of the lawyer, his/ her objectivity and integrity, decency and commitment.

¹²³ a) Any information known to a lawyer in the course of lawyers' activity shall be treated by such lawyer as confidential; b) Confidentiality requirement shall not be restricted in terms of time. A lawyer cannot disclose confidential information about his/her client in the absence of written consent from the client. Under exceptional circumstances, such disclosure may be allowed where the lawyer is convinced that the client has falsely incriminated him/herself, or where there is a civil dispute between the lawyer and his/her client, or for the purpose of the lawyer's defense against disciplinary or criminal charges. The same confidentiality requirement applies to assistant lawyers.

¹²⁴ a) A lawyer cannot provide legal representation or represent two or more clients in the same case if their interests are different, or if there is a reasonable expectation that a conflict of interest may arise; b) A lawyer must stop representing all clients (where there are two or more clients) once a conflict of interest has arisen between them; c) If there is a personal or professional conflict between several lawyers, they must take steps towards reconciliation on their own. d) In the exercise of lawyers' activity, a lawyer must respect his/her peers.

¹²⁵ Law of the Kyrgyz Republic No. 135 of 14 July 2014 "On Advokatura of the Kyrgyz Republic and lawyers' activity", section 26(2).

¹²⁶ ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit., p. 29.

22 THE BIRTH OF A NEW ADVOKATURA IN THE KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

Little has changed since those conclusions were made; more effort therefore needs to be made to instil the values of the Code of Ethics in all practicing lawyers. One potential obstacle to achieving this is that lawyers may view a rigorous application of the Code of Ethics through disciplinary proceedings with hostility at this stage of establishment of new institutions, which have yet to prove their value. However, it should also be borne in mind that the way the reform is carried out will shape the profession's future role and whether it is able to carry out one of its functions "[t]o maintain the honour, dignity, integrity, competence, ethics, standards of conduct and discipline of the profession."¹²⁷ Addressing the issue requires change to the mentality and the long-standing culture shared by the profession, rooted in its Soviet past. Changing these attitudes requires sustained education, awareness raising and debate within the profession on what professional ethics mean in practice. In tandem with this, the Code of Ethics needs to be applied, through disciplinary proceedings, rigorously, fairly, consistently and transparently in order for lawyers to know what behaviour is considered to be ethical and where such ethical rules are violated. The prompt adoption of procedures for the Ethics Commission is a necessary and welcome development. The mission noted that more remains to be done in terms of further elaborating standards and procedures, raising awareness of them amongst lawyers and ensuring their implementation in practice. The ICJ understands that even though the main procedures have been adopted, many lawyers are not sufficiently aware of them. Another problem to be taken into account is that of the so-called "pocket lawyers", who act against the interests of their clients in violation of both the Code of Ethics, and of the Kyrygz law, including criminal law. Corruption amongst lawyers in the Kyrgyz Republic, as in other sections of society, is not a rarity. Indeed, lawyers are sometimes referred to as merely a means to transfer money from the client to the officials. While a generalization that includes all the lawyers is obviously inaccurate, such a perception points to the problem which is widespread, deep-rooted and therefore difficult to address; Kyrgyzstan holds the 136th position out of 174 in the Transparency International Corruption Perception Index 2014.¹²⁸

In other countries of Central Asia where bar associations have been established for some time, they have had difficulty in addressing the problem of pocket lawyers. The ICJ report of 2012 noted that the phenomenon of pocket lawyers "is recognized as one of the most serious problems of legal communities in Central Asia, however lawyers' associations have not taken, or have not been able to take, effective action to address it, including through the promotion and enforcement of disciplinary action and the application of disciplinary measures. This has had a detrimental effect on the quality and dignity, as well as prestige of the legal profession, and has significantly undermined its effectiveness in protecting human rights and the rule of law."¹²⁹

The ICJ understands the complexity of the problem, which cannot be resolved exclusively through disciplinary mechanisms. However, there is a responsibility on the part of any lawyers' association to hold accountable a lawyer who commits serious violations of the Code of Ethics, such as disloyalty to the case of the client by acting against his or her interests and in the interest of the investigation; or negligence, where lawyers merely approve legal documents without providing any real legal assistance. These cases should not be difficult to establish and address through disciplinary proceedings. At the same time, it is important that the disciplinary mechanisms do not turn into "the Sword of Damocles" over lawyers who act in accordance with professional ethics. In the CIS region as well as globally, there are many examples of the disciplinary system being applied abusively against lawyers who carry out their functions in accordance with professional ethics and in respect of international principles on the role of lawyers. It is for the disciplinary bodies to establish practices that demonstrate to both lawyers and other actors of the justice system that they consistently interpret and apply professional ethical rules in a way that ensures independence of individual lawyers and the profession as a whole. The disciplinary system must quard against any action that would undermine the ability of lawyers to rigorously and freely defend their clients as required by national and international standards on the role of lawyers.

¹²⁷ Singhvi Declaration, op. cit., para. 99.

¹²⁸ Corruption Perceptions Index 2014, Results, https://www.transparency.org/cpi2014/results.

¹²⁹ ICJ Report, Independence of the Legal Profession in Central Asia, op. cit., p. 30.

VI. Conclusions and recommendations

This is a crucial time in the development of the legal profession in the Kyrgyz Republic. The creation of the Advokatura, a unified lawyers' association, is a significant step in the development of the justice system of the country. The ICJ welcomes the establishment of the Advokatura as it creates conditions necessary for an independent, self-regulated profession with institutions, rules and procedures that can uphold lawyers' integrity and high professional standards. However the establishment of this legal and institutional framework is only the first step in the complex task of developing a strong and independent legal profession, with high standards of professional ethics. As the new institutions begin their work and the new procedures are applied, many practical issues will need to be resolved and a new culture will need to develop within the profession.

The leaders of the new Advokatura have the privilege and the responsibility of creating an essential institution in their country. Their actions will shape the future of the profession and indeed the justice system as a whole, since the legal profession can and should be a bastion for the defence of the rule of law, in the Kyrgyz Republic as in any State. The active participation of lawyers in the establishment of the new system and institutions should ensure close scrutiny of the work of the new Advokatura in its early stages of development. Individual lawyers therefore have a responsibility to take part in the development of the new Advokatura. However the Advokatura, if it is to be effective in strengthening the profession, will also need to gain the trust of its members. For their part, the institutions of the Advokatura should strive to ensure that lawyers see that their work benefits lawyers and the profession as a whole.

Based on the findings of the report, international law and standards on the role of lawyers, the ICJ recommends as follows.

The role and functioning of the Advokatura

- The Advokatura and each of its institutions should operate in a way that is transparent, so that lawyers can be fully informed of its work; a participatory approach, fair procedures and regular, credible elections to each of its constituent bodies should result in a strong and truly representative professional association.
- In line with these principles, proposed changes to the laws and regulations governing the profession should be discussed and debated in a participatory manner that involves a broad community of lawyers before they are proposed as legislative amendments or imposed by the Advokatura. This concerns various aspects of the functioning of Advokatura, including fees, procedures and authorizations.
- The Advokatura should develop a strong and consistent practice of protecting lawyers against attacks and interference and thereby protecting their independence. The Committee on the Rights of Lawyers should take a proactive role in the protection of lawyers, drawing attention to and intervening in cases where lawyers face threats or harassment. It should also develop procedures to allow lawyers to address the Committee in any cases of improper interference with their work or their independence.
- The legal status of the Advokatura should be clarified and should be harmonized line with domestic legislation. It also has to be clarified what legislation applies to lawyers in their professional practice under the new Advokatura.
- The financial sustainability of the Advokatura needs to be built in order to secure the long-term stability of the new institutions. Full financial transparency, including regular reporting on the budget, can help Advokatura in gaining trust of the members of the profession.

Access to the profession

• The Qualification Commission and the qualification process should be independent in law as well as in practice from the Ministry of Justice or other executive institutions. The current law should therefore be reviewed and should be amended in line with international standards on the role of lawyers by bringing the Qualification Commission and the qualification process within the competence of the Advokatura.

- Once a candidate has passed the examination to qualify as a lawyer, and has met the other relevant qualifications, authorization to practice as a lawyer should be automatic, and should not depend on any discretion of the Ministry of Justice.
- Regulations should be developed to provide for a comprehensive and rigorous examination of candidates for qualification as a lawyer. Such a system should include safeguards to protect against any abuse, discrimination or corrupt practice.
- The range of exemptions from the qualification examination for lawyers—applying to categories of persons with professional experience in the legal system or in public administration—should be reviewed and restricted with a view to ensuring that all those entering the profession possess a sufficient level of legal knowledge and skills and share the ethical standards for lawyers.

Ethics of lawyers and disciplinary system

- The legal profession should use the opportunity of the new Advokatura to establish high and consistent ethical standards throughout the profession. Steps should be taken to promote and enforce the Code of Ethics, which should be seen as a binding instrument for every lawyer that informs their daily practice.
- The Ethics Commission should take on a leading role as a guarantor of the professional ethics of lawyers. Its consistent and fair interpretation and application of the Code of Ethics can be an effective tool in shaping a new profession with high ethical standards.
- Practices such as those of "pocket lawyers" who act contrary to the interests of their clients should be treated as flagrant violations of the Code of Ethics and should lead to disciplinary responsibility.
- Fair and comprehensive disciplinary procedures should be developed; this should be done in consultation with the broader lawyers' community in order to strengthen trust in the disciplinary process.
- A high quality of continued legal training for lawyers needs to be developed and maintained in order to uphold the ethical standards and legal knowledge of the profession; the Training Centre of Advokatura should become the key institution within the Advokatura which provides such education

ICJ Commission Members

February 2016 (for an updated list, please visit www.icj.org/commission)

President:

Prof. Sir Nigel Rodley, United Kingdom

Vice-Presidents:

Prof. Robert Goldman, United States Justice Michèle Rivet, Canada

Executive Committee:

Prof. Carlos Ayala, Venezuela Justice Azhar Cachalia, South Africa Prof. Jenny E. Goldschmidt, Netherlands Ms Imrana Jalal, Fiji Ms Hina Jilani, Pakistan Justice Radmila Dicic, Serbia

Other Commission Members:

Professor Kyong-Wahn Ahn, Republic of Korea Justice Adolfo Azcuna, Philippines Mr Muhannad Al-Hasani, Syria Dr. Catarina de Albuquerque, Portugal Mr Abdelaziz Benzakour, Morocco Justice Ian Binnie, Canada Sir Nicolas Bratza, UK Prof. Miguel Carbonell, Mexico Justice Moses Chinhengo, Zimbabwe Prof. Andrew Clapham, UK Justice Elisabeth Evatt, Australia Mr Roberto Garretón, Chile Prof. Michelo Hansungule, Zambia Ms Gulnora Ishankanova, Uzbekistan Mr. Shawan Jabarin, Palestine Justice Kalthoum Kennou, Tunisia Prof. David Kretzmer, Israel Prof. César Landa, Peru Justice Ketil Lund, Norway Justice Qinisile Mabuza, Swaziland

Justice José Antonio Martín Pallín, Spain Justice Charles Mkandawire, Malawi Mr Kathurima M'Inoti, Kenya Justice Yvonne Mokgoro, South Africa Justice Sanji Monageng, Botswana Justice Tamara Morschakova, Russia Prof. Vitit Muntarbhorn, Thailand Justice Egbert Myjer, Netherlands Justice John Lawrence O'Meally, Australia Justice Fatsah Ouguergouz, Algeria Dr Jarna Petman, Finland Prof. Victor Rodriguez Rescia, Costa Rica Mr Belisario dos Santos Junior, Brazil Prof. Marco Sassoli, Italy-Switzerland Justice Ajit Prakash Shah, India Mr Raji Sourani, Palestine Justice Philippe Texier, France Justice Stefan Trechsel, Switzerland Prof. Rodrigo Uprimny Yepes, Colombia

ISBN 978-92-9037-229-5



International Commission of Jurists

P.O. Box 91 Rue des Bains 33 CH 1211 Geneva 8 Switzerland

t +41 22 979 38 00 **f** +41 22 979 38 01 www.icj.org